1966

L.B. Foster Company A Pennsylvania Corporation
v. Nelson Brothers Construction Company, A Utah
Corporation, and Industrial Indemnity Company,
A Corporation : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a civil action by a Pennsylvania corporation not authorized to do business in Utah against a general contractor and a bonding company. Plaintiff seeks the unpaid portion of the purchase price together with a reasonable attorney's fee, of materials supplied by the Plaintiff to a subcontractor for installation in the general contractor's project which is a

part of the Interstate Highway System. The complaint is in two counts:

I. Against both defendants under 14-1-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended; and

II. Against the general contractor under separate indemnity and guarantee agreement.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court sitting without a jury. The court entered judgment against the general contractor for the unpaid purchase price together with a reasonable attorney's fee and held that the Pennsylvania corporation was not doing business in Utah within the contemplation of 16-10-120, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants ask this court to reverse the trial court's determination that the Plaintiff Respondent was not doing business in Utah and therefore is precluded from maintaining this action; or that failing, to reverse the trial court's holding that Nelson Brothers Construction Company is liable under the so-called indemnity-guaranty agreement.

or that failing, to reverse the trial court's award of a reasonable attorney's fee to Plaintiff-Respondent under Count II of its Complaint; and to award Defendant-Appellant, Industrial Indemnity Company, a reasonable attorney's fee as the prevailing party under Count I of Plaintiff's Complaint.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The material facts are presented, substantially, in the argument. This statement of facts, therefore, represents a summary only of the facts and chronological events as they are developed in the record.

Plaintiff below, L. B. Foster Company, is a Pennsylvania corporation not authorized to do business in Utah.

L. B. Foster is engaged in numerous business enterprises throughout the country including the supplying of aluminum railing; steel cross-beams, waivers, sheet piling, etc. for use in construction projects (R. 104, 111, 127, 164, Exhibit D-8).

Defendant Nelson Brothers Construction Company is a Nevada corporation with its principal place of business in Salt Lake City, Utah.

Nelson Brothers, as prime contractor, was successful bidder and was awarded a contract with the

State of Utah to construct, as part of the Interstate Highway System, an overpass in Utah County known as the "North Lehi Project No. IG-15-6 (20) 277, 3rd Contract." Defendant Industrial Indemnity Company furnished the contractors bond on the project.

Bountiful Materials and Construction Company (also known as BOMACO) entered into a Subcontract Agreement dated April 18, 1963, with Nelson Brothers to furnish and install the aluminum railing on the project. (Exhibit P-4) Plaintiff-Respondent furnished the aluminum railing to Bountiful Materials and Construction Company who, in turn, installed them in the project and was paid the agreed sub-contract price except \$1,128.00 which was held back pending the outcome of this suit and some set-offs claimed by Nelson Brothers Construction Company against Bountiful Materials and Construction Company (R. 162)

Bountiful Materials and Construction Company failed to pay \$2,752.90 of the purchase price for said aluminum railing to L. B. Foster Company. (R. 1, 43)

Reuben Skogerboe was and is employed by Nelson Brothers Construction Company as a "job superintendent."

After completion of this project Plaintiff brought this action for the unpaid portion of the alu-

minimum under two counts:

I. Against Nelson Brothers Construction Company and Industrial Indemnity Company under Section 14-1-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, commonly known as the "Little Miller Act"; and

II. Against Nelson Brothers Construction Company alone on the basis that Nelson Brothers Construction Company, by virtue of the fact that Reuben Skogerboe had signed the letter of June 10, 1963, which recites:

* * *

...in consideration of our delivery of aluminum bridge rail to BOMACO, INC. on your job site, we ask that you guarantee payment, of our invoice in accordance with the terms of your subcontract with BOMACO, INC. and that we be afforded protection under your bond,...

* * *

had agreed to indemnify and guarantee payment of the purchase price by Bountiful Materials and Construction Company. (R. 1, 2, 42-44)

Defendants denied liability under the "Little Miller Act" on the ground the Plaintiff had not complied with the provisions of said act, compliance being a condition precedent to recovery thereunder; and defendant, Nelson Brothers, denied liability under the so-called "agreement" on the ground that

Reuben Skogerboe did not have authority to bind Nelson Brothers Construction Company under the agreement.

Both defendants asserted that Plaintiff was precluded from maintaining this action by virtue of the fact that it was doing business in Utah without a certificate of authority, contrary to Section 16-10-120, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. (R. 35, 42, 44)

At the pre-trial the court dismissed Count I as against Nelson Brothers Construction Company (R. 43,44) and Plaintiff admitted that no certificate of authority was held by Plaintiff. (R. 44)

After trial to the court, Judge Stewart M. Hanson gave judgment in the amount of \$2,752.90 plus a reasonable attorney's fee to Plaintiff under Count II of the Complaint and held that Plaintiff was not doing business in Utah within the contemplation of Section 16-10-120. (R. 49-54)

Defendants moved the court for a new trial or in the alternative for an order amending and making additional findings and conclusions and amending the judgment accordingly. (R. 55-59) The court denied Defendants' motion and this appeal was taken

ARGUMENT

POINT I, THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF WAS NOT "TRANSACTING BUSINESS" WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH AND WAS NOT THEREBY BARRED FROM MAINTAINING THIS ACTION BY ARTICLE XII, SECTION 9, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH AND SECTION 16-10-120, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED.

Article XII, Section 9, of the Constitution of the State of Utah Provides:

No corporation shall do business in this State, without having one or more places of business, with an authorized agent or agents, upon whom process can be served; nor without first filing a certified copy of its articles of incorporation with the Secretary of State.

Section 16-10-120, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, provides in part:

...No foreign corporation transacting business in this State without certificate of authority shall be permitted to maintain any action, suit or proceeding in any court of this State, until such corporation shall obtain a certificate of authority....

The court found:

* * *

6. That plaintiff's business in the State of Utah was interstate in nature; that all materials from plaintiff to Bountiful Materials and Construction Company were shipped to Bountiful Materials and Construction Company from outside of the State of Utah and that plaintiff neither had an office in the State of Utah nor agents permanently established in the State of Utah; that plaintiff's salesman was only in the State of Utah two or three times during the year 1963. (R. 51)

* * *

From such finding the court concluded:

* * *

2. That plaintiff was not doing business within the State of Utah within the contemplation of the Statute barring plaintiff to act without first being qualified to do business under the laws of the State of Utah. (R. 52)

* * *

The court failed to make any finding with regard to Plaintiff's activities respecting the inventory of sheet piling although it was specifically requested to do so by the Defendants. (R. 55, 57 58) In so doing the court has ignored uncontroverted evidence that L. B. Foster Company:

1. Maintained a continuing inventory of sheet piling in Utah from before May of 1962 to the time of trial. (R. 104-106, 127, 131-135, 149-151, 158, Exhibits D-8, D-9, D-10, D-11, D-12, D-13, D-14,

D-15)

2. Retained title to all of said sheet piling. (R. 104, 127, 131-132, 149, Exhibit D-8)

3. On at least forty separate occasions from May, 1962, until the date of trial, engaged in transactions involving sheet pilings stored in Utah, either with Utah customers or out-of-state customers. (R. 105, 139, 142, 153, 157-158, Exhibits D-8, D-14, and D-15)

4. Negotiated and contracted for the sale or rental of sheet pilings with such customers and received payments from such customers direct. (R. 105, 109, 125, 139, 157, Exhibit D-8)

5. On a continuing basis, rented storage space in Utah from Bud A. Jensen Company, Shurtliff and Andrews, Inc., and F. B. Truck Line, for the aforesaid inventory of sheet pilings. (R. 104, 106, 127, 131, 133, 135, 136, 140, 141, Exhibit D-8.); and

6. Issued periodic directives to Bud A. Jensen Company, Shurtliff and Andrews, Inc. and F. B. Truck Line to load or off-load, crop, maintain, tally, etc., the sheet pilings and compensated said companies therefore, according to a set schedule. (R. 105, 127, 131, 133, 135, 136, 140, 141, Exhibits D-8, D-14 and D-15)

Nelson Brothers Construction Company's sec-

retary-treasurer, Emery Nelson, testified that Nelson Brothers Construction Company paid L. B. Foster Company ~~\$6,25.00~~^{86,256.00} for some of the transactions to which it was a party during 1962 and 1963. The witness testified that there would be more than that amount for all of the transactions between Nelson Brothers and L. B. Foster. (R. 158)

There is testimony that the value of the inventory stockpiled in Utah may have reached, at its highest point, "...between eighty and one hundred thousand..." dollars. (R. 138)

Plaintiff seeks to avoid the fact that these activities constitute "transacting of business" in Utah by introducing testimony to the effect that these transactions represent only a small percentage of the total business, or even of the business with Utah concerns done by L. B. Foster. Plaintiff cannot escape the conclusion that for the past four or more years, it has continued to maintain an inventory of goods within the State, has continued to deal with the goods in said inventory and has continued to engage in transactions involving parts of said inventory with customers, both local and out-of-state. Activities of this type have been consistently held to constitute the doing of business within this State. See Mud Control Laboratories vs. Covey, 2 U. (2d) 85, 269 P. (2d) 854. See also the

extensive annotation in What Constitutes Doing Business by a Corporation in States Foreign to the State of its Creation 1965. Corporation Trust Company, pp. 68-69. The authorities compiled therein lead Corporation Trust Company to conclude that:

A foreign corporation which maintains a stock of goods within a state, from which it makes deliveries to customers in the state, is ordinarily regarded by the courts as doing business and required to qualify. It does not appear to be significant whether the stock is large or small, or whether it is located in a public warehouse, storeroom, office, freight car or any other place

It has also been held that qualification is required where the foreign corporation maintains "spot" stocks strategically located so as to furnish customers with quick delivery. This is true although the bulk of the orders are filled from outside the state.

Moreover, the Plaintiff cannot escape the inevitable conclusion that it has, on numerous occasions, and on a continuing basis over the past four or more years, engaged in the business of leasing and selling personal property in this state. This conduct together with the other factors (retaining title to the sheet pilings, hiring storage facilities, contracting for the protection, maintenance, loading and off-loading of the sheet pilings, etc.) gives rise to the conclusion that I. B. Foster Company was transacting business

in Utah. Western Outdoor Advertising Company vs. Berbiglia, Inc., (Mo.) 263 S.W. (2d) 205. See also, What Constitutes Doing Business By a Corporation in States Foreign to The State of Its Creation 1965, *supra*, pp. 62-63.

It is conceded that L. B. Foster Company was not authorized to do business in the State of Utah. (R. 44).

Presumably, a substantial sum has accrued to the State of Utah and to the County of Salt Lake for license taxes, sales taxes from the sales and lease transactions conducted in this State, income taxes from the income derived from said sales and rentals, and property taxes on the inventory maintained in the State. Plaintiff's Sales Manager in Charge of Construction Products testified that he did not know if L. B. Foster Company had paid inventory, income or sales taxes in Utah. (R. 129)

The State of Utah has a substantial and legitimate right to tax and license foreign corporations transacting business in Utah and to this end has provided sanctions, penal in nature, to enforce compliance with its licensing requirements. It has denied access to the courts to corporations not in compliance. This court should uphold the State's right to compel compliance and should deny the Plaintiff

access to the courts in this case.

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT DEFENDANT, NELSON BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, WAS INDEBTED TO PLAINTIFF UNDER COUNT II OF PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

The trial court in its memorandum decision held that "...the Plaintiff is entitled to recover under the Indemnity and Guaranty Agreement introduced in evidence and as set forth in Count II..." (R. 49)

In the Findings of Fact submitted by the Plaintiff and signed by the court, the court found:

* * *

3. That Defendant Nelson Brothers Construction Company executed an Idemnity and Guaranty Agreement under date of October 17, 1963 indemnifying the Plaintiff against failure of Bountiful Materials and Construction Company to make payment to the Plaintiff for materials furnished and sold to Bountiful Materials and Construction Company.

4. That the Defendant [sic] Reuben Skogerboe, was the superintendent of Nelson Brothers Construction Company and was vested with authority to sign said indemnity agreement...

* * *

At the trial, the court admitted into evidence over Defendants' objections Exhibit P-1, a purported Indemnity and Guaranty Agreement executed by Reuben G. Skogerboe, Supt., for Nelson Brothers

Construction Company under date of October 17, 1963. Defendants did not deny that Reuben Skogerboe signed said Exhibit or that said Reuben Skogerboe was employed by Nelson Brothers Construction Company as a "job superintendent." Defendants vigorously did deny, however, that said Reuben Skogerboe had authority to execute said exhibit or that Nelson Brothers Construction Company was bound thereby. (R. 40, 44, 80-81, 98 and Exhibit P-1) The following transpired in connection with the reception of said Exhibit P-1 into evidence:

MR. MECHAM: We offer in evidence Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, your Honor.

THE COURT: Any objection, Mr. Housley?

MR. HOUSLEY: Your Honor, we object to its admission for the purpose of showing that Reuben Skogerboe had authority to enter into the agreement. If it has another purpose other than that, then I would like to know what it is.

Mr. MECHAM: One of the purposes, your Honor, is that it is an agreement between L. B. Foster and Nelson Brothers Construction Company.

THE COURT: He is going to have to show that Skogerboe had authority before it is binding. I will admit it with the understanding that he has to show it.

MR. HOUSLEY: Very well. We have no objec-

tion except for that thing. (R. 93-94)

Plaintiff called both Reuben Skogerboe and Emery Nelson as witnesses, but failed to ask either of them whether Reuben Skogerboe had authority to execute Exhibit P-1.

Admittedly when a fact of agency is uncontroverted or admitted, and the agent was apparently acting for his principal as to the business in hand, the burden is on the principal to show that the agent exceeded his authority. 3 Am Jur (2d) 707, Agency Sec. 350. Defendants have sustained said burden by direct and unequivocal testimony.

Nelson Brothers Construction Company's secretary-treasurer, Emery G. Nelson, ^{testified} on direct examination by Defendants' attorney, that in his capacity as secretary-treasurer and one of the directors of the corporation that he had occasion to know the authority of Nelson Brothers Construction Company's superintendents. He testified that Nelson Brothers variously hired from two to eight "job superintendents" and that all the "job superintendents" had the same authority on work and the same place in the hierarchy of Nelson Brothers Construction Company as did Reuben Skogerboe. Moreover he testified that Reuben Skogerboe did not have corporate authority to sign subcontract agreements and did

not have corporate authority to sign guarantys or indemnities with suppliers or subcontractors. (R. 154-155).

Mr. Nelson testified:

Q (by Mr. Housley) Will you tell the court what corporate authority Reuben Skogerboe had vis-a-vis these two exhibits, "Exhibit P-1 and P-2," which I believe you have already seen. "P-1, P-2, P-3 and P-4," will you tell the court what corporate authority Reuben Skogerboe had with reference to those?

A As preliminary to that I could say that job superintendents, in our company at least, have the general authority of negotiating the terms of the subcontracts. That is negotiating what type of work is to be done and determining what price will be charged, and sometimes they have the same authority to do that with materials and equipment. In general, they coordinate and plan the work.

However, ordinarily the formal written purchase orders and written subcontracts are made up in our central office and signed by a corporate officer. The job superintendent, of course, has authority to follow up on delivery of material, or when the subcontractor would be on the job, they are our contact man. However, they don't, of course, have authority to actually pay for materials except very minor things that have to be paid for immediately on the job when delivered, such as once in a while a freight bill.

Q Let me interrupt. Is there a separate account to pay those from?

A. Generally when we have a distant job we sometimes set up a small checking account that we allow the job superintendent to sign checks on, to pay for small things that have to be paid for immediately when delivered to the job. Everything else is paid for from the central office, after approval there, and that has been the general procedure in making up the subcontracts and the large purchase order.

Now, small purchase orders we have allowed the job superintendent to write those. Ordinarily it is general procedure.

Q. When you say small purchase order, what range are you talking about?

A. Well, I would say a few hundred dollars. It would vary.

Q. When you say large purchase orders, what are you talking about there?

A. I am speaking of several thousand dollars, a thousand dollar order, several thousand.

Q. Now the question was vis-a-vis these specific documents, what was Reuben Skogerboe's corporate authority?

A. Well, he really had no corporate authority to execute this guarantee, whatever you call it, with L. B. Foster Company. He did have authority to work out the terms, and with BOM-ACO, the subcontractor. However, the subcontract itself should have been made out or signed by a corporate officer, that has been authorized by the corporation to enter into such agreements.

Q. So that as I understand your answer, he does not have that authority to execute that subcontract agreement, is that correct?

A. Not actually, no. (R. 155-157)

On cross-examination Mr. Nelson testified that Nelson Brothers Construction Company does not have a written job description for job superintendents. (R. 160)

In its effort to prove that Reuben Skogerboe was authorized to execute the so-called indemnity-guaranty agreement, Plaintiff established the fact that Reuben Skogerboe signed the original subcontract agreement with Bountiful Materials and Construction Company, which fact Defendants conceded. Defendants, however, denied that Reuben Skogerboe had authority to execute the subcontract agreement. (R. 98)

testimony by Plaintiff's Sales
In addition, the following was offered by the Plaintiff, apparently for the purpose of establishing customary authority:

Q. Now, with reference to the custom of the trade, in accepting orders from general contractors, what is the custom, if you know, with reference to dealing with superintendents?

MR. HOUSLEY: Objection, your Honor. No sufficient foundation.

THE COURT: O. K. Lay a foundation, Mr.

Mecham.

Q. (By Mr. Mecham) Mr. McClelland, when you deal with a general contractor to take an order, which is, as the one you took in this particular case, the Nelson order, or the BOMACO order, for materials that L. B. Foster furnishes, what procedure do you follow?

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