1966

L.B. Foster Company A Pennsylvania Corporation  
v. Nelson Brothers Construction Company, A Utah  
Corporation, and Industrial Indemnity Company,  
A Corporation : Respondent's Brief

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE COURT'S RULING THAT PLAINTIFF WAS NOT TRANSACTING BUSINESS WITHIN THE STATE OF UTAH WHICH WOULD REQUIRE REGISTRATION UNDER THE BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT WAS AMPLY SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

This Court has spoken many times on the subject of what constitutes "doing business" in Utah by a foreign corporation.

On the subject of "doing business," the facts, simply stated, are these: Bomaco, defendant's Subcontractor, placed its order for aluminum bridge railing from plaintiff for the North Lehi Project by telephone to plaintiff's Los Angeles office (R. 126). Plaintiff in response to the order had the bridge railing shipped from Pittsburgh Pennsylvania (R. 16) and Carnegie, Pennsylvania (R. 19) to Bomaco's yard in Salt Lake City, Utah, in care of defendant Nelson. There is no dispute that all of the materials ordered by Bomaco for this said highway project were shipped from states other than Utah (R. 100).

Plaintiff's salesmen infrequently solicited orders in Utah -- only two or three times a year (R. 91). Plaintiff did not maintain agents or dealers in Utah nor did Plaintiff have an office or need for an office in the State of Utah (R. 125). Plaintiff had nothing to do with the installation of said materials after they were shipped to the job (R 101), but did prepare shop drawings and did fab-

ricate the railing in Pittsburgh for delivery to the North Lehi Construction Project (R. 101).

Defendant Nelson urges that some sheet piling stored in Utah places plaintiff in the position of Qualification and Registration. None of the said piling stored in Utah was used on the North Lehi Project, and Shurtleff & Andrews, with whom the said piling was stored for the convenience of general contractors, was in fact an independent contractor (R. 109). The record, however, is clear that almost all of the piling was shipped into the State of Utah or through the State in Interstate Commerce (R. 111, 112).

Defendant Nelson's, witnesses testified at R. 145 and 146, that the sheet piling was received from outside Utah, and shipments were made to states other than Utah. Again, at R. 153, defendant Nelson's witness stated, that of a total of seventeen transactions, thirteen were "shipped out of state or received from out of state, and four were shipped to or received within the state."

In addition to the interstate shipment of piling to independent contractors Shurtleff & Andrews and to F. & B. Truck Lines, it should be noted that plaintiff deals in rails, splice bars, bolts, nuts, spikes, frogs, switches, tie plates, rail braces, track, tools, all kinds of piping, H-Bearing, pipe piling, marine fenders, rubber dock fenders, pump cells, highway signs, none of which are stored in the State of Utah nor sold through dealers or agents in the State of Utah (R. 141, 163, 164).

Defendant Nelson does not attack the validity of the agreement between plaintiff and Bomaco for the materials ordered and consumed on its job, but rather at page 12 of its brief urges “this court to uphold states’ rights to compel compliance and *should deny access to the courts in this case.*” (Emphasis added)

Moreover, defendant Nelson does not contend the Indemnity Agreement (Ex. P-1) was either void or voidable for want of plaintiff’s qualification in Utah.

Even so, the facts support the Interstate nature of plaintiff’s business in Utah. Upon these facts, the court below followed the decision of *East Coast Discount Corporation v. Reynolds*, 7 Utah 2d 362, 325 Pac. 2d 853. And the Court had this case clearly in mind at the trial of this said action. See the Court’s comment with reference to this *East Coast Discount Corporation case* at Page 110 of the record.

With reference to what constitutes doing business within the meaning of the Constitution of Utah, Article X, Section 9, see *Marchant v. National Reserve Company of Utah*, 103 Utah 530, 137 Pac. 2d 332.

Activities *not* considered to be transacting business within the State of Utah are set forth in 16-10-102, Utah Code Annotated, under the Business Corporation Act. Among these are:

- (a) maintaining or defending any action or suit . . .
- (c) effecting sales through independent contractors (such as the sales transacted through Shurtleff & Andrews and

R & B Trucking Company relating to piling only); (f) soliciting or procuring orders, whether by mail or through employees or agents, or otherwise, where such orders require acceptance without this State before becoming binding contracts (plaintiff did not have an office or an agency in the State of Utah for the purpose of accepting orders in this State); (i) transacting any business in Interstate Commerce. (Practically all of the business transacted by plaintiff in Utah was Interstate, and the materials ordered from plaintiff was shipped in Interstate Commerce.)

In the case of *Parke Davis & Company v. Fifth Judicial District Court*, 93 Utah 217, 72 Pac. 2d 466, the Court ruled:

“The soliciting of orders for goods by salesmen of foreign corporation and the shipment of goods into State pursuant to such orders, are in Interstate Commerce and do not constitute doing business within the State of Utah.”

See also *East Coast Discount Corporation v. Reynolds*, 7 Utah 2d 362, 325 Pac. 2d 853, in which the Court held that a foreign corporation which entered into contracts with dealers in the State of Utah which required it to send guarantees to consumers, advertised through circulars, shared newspaper advertising expense, furnished advertising matter, and send an agent when requested, to assist the dealer in sales, was not “doing business” for purposes of the statute; since these acts were incidental to the entire Interstate character of contracts.

*The bringing of a suit by a foreign corporation to secure its legal rights is not "doing business" in the State of Utah. See George R. Barse Livestock Company v. Range Valley Cattle Company, 16 Utah 59, 50 Pac. 630; Home Brewing Company of Chicago Heights v. American Chemical and Ozokerite Company, 58 Utah 219, 198 Pac. 170; General Motors Acceptance Corporation v. Lund, 60 Utah 247, 208 Pac. 502.*

Defendant Nelson for "doing business" relies on the case of *Mud Control Laboratories v. Covey*, 2 Utah 2d 85, 269 Pac. 2d 854. In this case, the Court construed 16-8-3 Utah Code Annotated (1953), setting out the disabilities of a non-complying foreign corporation. Defendant Nelson, apparently overlooked the fact that 16-8-3 was repealed by the Legislature in 1961, when the Utah Business Corporation Act was enacted. It should be noted, however, that in the *Mud Control Case*, contrary to the facts in the instant case, the materials sold by Mud Control were shipped into Utah and were there disbursed by Mud Control. The Utah Business Corporation Act 16-10-102 liberalizes the registration requirements of foreign corporations, and specifically classifies the exemptions which come within the facts of this case. See also *East Coast Discount Corporation v. Reynolds*, supra, in which the Court said:

"... Merely entering into contracts requiring foreign corporations to perform within state acts, which were part of and incidental to entire Interstate character of contracts did not constitute doing business for purposes of statute."

To set the record straight defendant's voluntary statement at page 12 of its brief must be answered. De-

fendants' statement is quoted as follows: "*Presumably*, a substantial sum has accrued to the State of Utah and to the County of Salt Lake for license taxes, sales taxes from sales and lease transactions conducted in the State, income taxes from the income derived from said sales and rentals, and the property taxes on inventory maintained in the State." At page 129 of the record, plaintiff's representative testified that he did *not* know whether the company paid inventory, income or sales tax in Utah. Defendant Nelson's counsel, it would appear, deliberately injected an assumption which this Court in its judicious wisdom will denounce. Even though the subject of taxes is entirely irrelevant to the issues in this case, it would seem that the proper forum for defendant Nelson to make its charge or complaint, if it has one, is the State Tax Commission of Utah. Defendant did not produce any evidence as to whether or not plaintiff paid taxes in the State of Utah.

In conclusion and in defense of defendant Nelson's plea that the plaintiff should be denied access to the Courts in Utah, we refer to 16-10-102 (a) Utah Code Annotated, Utah Business Corporation Act, which specifically permits maintaining or defending any action or suit or administrative or arbitration proceeding, or affecting the settlement thereof, or the settlement of claims or disputes without having to register in the State of Utah.

## POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT DEFENDANT, NELSON BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, WAS INDEBTED TO PLAINTIFF UNDER COUNT II OF PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT.

Defendant Nelson's argument to this point turns on the authority of its superintendent Reuben Skogerboe, to bind the defendant on an Indemnity-Guaranty Agreement (Ex. P-1, *supra*).

Having received the benefit of the materials furnished and used on its construction project, defendant Nelson, for the first time and only after the law suit was filed, took the position that Skogerboe had no authority to bind the defendant, Nelson Brothers. The Court properly concluded that Superintendent Skogerboe had the necessary authority, based upon the following:

1. Plaintiff's (L. B. Foster) letter, dated June 10, 1963 (Ex. P-1), was transmitted to defendant (*Nelson Brothers Construction Company*), requesting indemnification and protection under defendant Nelson's bond on Project IG-15-6 (20)277-3rd Contract, North Lehi, Utah. Defendant Nelson referred this letter to its superintendent, Reuben G. Skogerboe, who in turn signed the document (R. 95), (R. 114, 115, 117), on October 17, 1963, and forwarded the original to Plaintiff, L. B. Foster Company. It should be noted that Skogerboe signed the letter as "superintendent," and

not as "Job Superintendent." By referring this letter (Ex P-1) to Skogerboe for action defendant conferred upon Skogerboe the authority to act.

2. On April 28, 1964, plaintiff, (Foster) wrote to defendant (Nelson Brothers) (Ex. P-2) again requesting payment on said job, and a copy of this letter was directed to one of the principals in the company, Mr. Orrin A. Nelson. Here again, Nelson Brothers referred this letter to Reuben Skogerboe, Superintendent, who replied:

"Payment of materials on this contract has not been received by us yet, payment should be received by us approximately May 20, 1964. We will pay this to you and Bomaco jointly. Payment has just been received by us for material on the North Lehi Project, so IG-15-6 (20) 277 this will be mailed immediately. Sincerely yours, Reuben Skogerboe, Superintendent." (Ex. P-2)

3. Exhibit P-3 is a telegram from this same Reuben Skogerboe stating that defendant, Nelson Brothers, will execute a Standard Sheet Piling Rental Agreement (R. 96, 97).
4. The Subcontract Agreement between defendant Nelson and Bomaco (Ex. P-4), was signed by Reuben G. Skogerboe, Superintendent, for and on behalf of Nelson Brothers Construction Company (R. 97). Also Ex. P-5 was referred to Skogerboe (R. 118).

5. Reuben G. Skogerboe, Superintendent, wrote to Bomaco on October 21, 1963 with reference to this said North Lehi Construction Project, in which he states that:

“ . . . I am returning one set of drawings. These drawings do not have to be approved by the State, to do so now it would delay the project to such an extent you could not supply the material on time for delivery. The State only requires a Certificate of Compliance with plans and specifications, plus a sample of handrail 2-feet long.” (Ex. P-7)

Would the Court need more to prove Skogerboe had more than just superficial perfunctory jurisdiction of defendant Nelson's affairs?

6. On December 22, 1964, the firm Clyde, Mecham & Pratt wrote to Emery Nelson of Nelson Brothers Construction Company, referring to the said Indemnity Agreement of June 10, 1963. There was no answer received to this letter, denying Skogerboe's authority to sign the letter of June 10, 1963 on behalf of Nelson Brothers Construction Company (R. 27).
7. In answer to an interrogatory at R. 29:

“Q. Did the defendant, Nelson Brothers Construction Company, have a Subcontract with Bountiful Materials & Coustruction Company.”

Emery G. Nelson of defendant Nelson Company answered as the Secretary of the Corporation that a written Subcontract was in existence and

furnished a copy of said Subcontract with the Answers to Interrogatories at R. 31. It is noted that Skogerboe signed this document as "Superintendent" for defendant Nelson, and that Nelson did not deny Skogerboe's authority to sign said Subcontract document, and moreover the materials furnished by plaintiff for performance of said Subcontract were used on the job (R. 98) and (R. 113).

8. Attached to defendant Nelson Company's Answer to Interrogatories, Emery G. Nelson, Secretary of defendant Nelson attached checks paid on said Subcontract for the materials furnished by L. B. Foster Company through Bomaco. These checks show part payment of the account on the Subcontract executed by Reuben Skogerboe (Attached to R-31).
9. On September 28, 1964, defendant Nelson wrote to plaintiff, stating that as of this date, we have paid our Subcontractor, Bountiful Materials & Construction Company, \$10,152.00 on the subject contracts. This represents 90 per cent of the amount owed to them. The writer of this letter stated:

*"We appreciate your informing us of the unpaid balance of Bomaco's account, and will exert any pressure we can in getting them to make payment at the earliest date possible. When we receive final payment from the State, we will make a check in the amount of \$1,128.00 payable to both you and Bomaco so*

that you will be assured of receiving the final amount owed to Bomaco by us.” (Emphasis added)

There is no indication in this said letter at R. 38, that defendant Nelson Company denies the authority of Reuben Skogerboe to enter into the Subcontract Agreement with Bomaco. Moreover, defendant Nelson Brothers states it will pay the \$1,128.00, *which has not been done to date and it is holding this sum contrary to the statement in this said letter of 28 September 1964.* See R. 162, where Emery Nelson states defendant Nelson is holding \$1,128.00. See also R. 39, in which Bomaco, Inc., by a letter dated October 30, 1964, authorized defendant (Nelson Brothers) Attention: Mr. Emery Nelson, to pay \$1,282.50 to L. B. Foster and Bountiful Material & Construction Company by a joint check. And, in answer to the Demand for Admissions at R. 40, defendant (Nelson Brothers) admitted that the letter of September 28, 1964, signed by Owen J. Lunt on behalf of defendant Nelson is genuine, and that Bomaco’s letter, dated October 30, 1964, was received by defendant Nelson Brothers.

10. Defendant Nelson stipulated at pages 79 and 80 of the record that Reuben Skogerboe signed the Subcontract Agreement with Bomaco and that Skogerboe was a Superintendent prequalified as such with the State of Utah (R. 81).

11. Plaintiff, at no time ever received information from defendant Nelson that Reuben G. Skogerboe did not have authority to sign the Indemnity Agreement identified as Exhibit P-1 (R. 93).
12. Reuben Skogerboe testified that he had supervision of defendant Nelson's work and coordination of the work by general contractors and was an expeditor of materials on the job (R. 121). In this capacity he expedited materials furnished by plaintiff.
13. Emery Nelson testified at R. 155, that Skogerboe had authority to negotiate the terms of Subcontracts (R. 159).
14. The Subcontract Agreement signed by Skogerboe was submitted to the State Road Commission by defendant Nelson, as being completely bona fide, and Nelson Brothers did not renounce this said Sub-contract because of the authority of Skogerboe (R. 161).

“The liability of the principal (defendant Nelson) to a third person (plaintiff, Foster) upon a transaction conducted by an agent (Skogerboe) may be based upon the fact that (a) agent was authorized; (b) the agent was apparently authorized; or (c) the agent had a power arising from the agency relationship, and not dependent upon an authority or apparent authority.” (*Restatement of the Law of Agency*, Sec. 140.)

“Although an agent or apparent agent does not under the rules stated in Section 144-211 (disclosed or

partially disclosed principal) have power to bind his principal in a particular transaction, the transaction may nevertheless subject the principal to liability or to the loss of his interests where: (a) The principal has misled or has failed to undeceive the third person; (b) the principal has benefited from the transaction." . . . (*Restatement of the Law of Agency*, Sec. 141.)

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